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Designed by Augustus Laver, this mansion originally served as the townhouse 
for James Clair Flood, one of the Nevada Comstock Kings. It was completed in 
1886, the first brownstone west of the Mississippi and was the only Nob Hill 
palace to survive the earthquake and fire of: 1906.

Other west coast millionaires, including Leland Stanford, Mark Hopkins, Collis 
Huntington, and Charles Crocker of the Central Pacific Railroad, James Fair 
of the Comstock, "Lucky" Baldwin, and David Colton had already built their 
great mansion on Nob Hill, when Flood, almost 60 years old, began his palace. 
In 1883, he selected this site, which was considered undesirable, for not only 
was the unleveled lot covered with sand and shrubbery, but Mason Street 
had not been cut through from Sacramento to California Streets.

During an earlier trip to the East, Flood had been impressed by the brownstone 
mansions of the wealthy. He therefore commissioned Augustus Laver to design the 
mansion and to import precut sandstone from Connecticut for the exterior, and 
bricks to line the interior. The stone was shipped around the Horn as 
ballast. The 42 room house was completed in approximately 2 years at a cost 
of $15. million. The original address was 1010 California Street and the city 
directory listed this as the Flood residence for the first time in 1888. Mr. Flood 
had a $30,000 bronze fence constructed around the property. Today, the same 
fence exists on three sides.

The earthquake and fire of 1906, devastated all of the other Nob Hill palaces, 
since they were constructed of wood, and only painted to look like stone. 
On the morning of the second day of the fire, April 19, 1906, flames reached the 
Flood Mansion, and destroyed the interior, but the stone shell survived. Since 
Flood had died in 1889 in Heidelberg, and his widow in 1897, his spinster 
daughter, Cora, lived in the house until only that year. She then sold the 
scorched building to the Pacific Union Club in 1909.

After buying the property, the club held an architectural competition to select 
an architect for a new building on the site. One of the members, Albert Pissis, 
won the competition, but his idea to erect a grand white stone building, which 
would make Nob Hill into a second Acropolis, began to seem too expensive. The 
commission was then taken from Pissis and given to Polk, the only one who wanted 
to retain what was left of the mansion. Willis Polk remodeled the interior and 
made certain exterior changes in 1910. Semicircular wings on the east and west 
and a third floor were added. Brownstone was brought from the same quarry 
in Connecticut to harmonize with the existing stone. The Pacific Union 
Club added some $575,000 worth of improvements to the original estate, while 
retaining its essence of grandeur. No longer the dwelling for a single family, 
the interior was designed with five dining rooms, a swimming pool, a squash 
court, and other luxuries for men of the city. Women were allowed in the club 
house for the first and only time in 1952, for the Centennial Celebration Ball.

The palatial atmosphere still pervades Nob Hill. The prestigious Pacific Union 
Club is now surrounded by Grand Hotels, such as the Mark Hopkins, the Fairmont, 
and others named after the prestigious former residents of the hill.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The James Flood Mansion, the only one of a group of Nob Hill mansions to survive 
the San Francisco earthquake of 1906, commemorates a man, and an era in American 
business when enormous fortunes were made by speculation and daring-do. James 
Flood operated a saloon when he came to San Francisco from New York in 1849, but 
by shrewd dealing in the stock exchange as one of four members of a newly-formed 
syndicate, and the judicious exploration and development of the mines, he and his 
partners amassed tremendous fortunes while supplying great quantities of precious 
minerals. In 1873, they brought in their biggest bonanza mine—and exploited 
probably the richest body of gold and silver ore ever found on earth—the legendary 
Comstock Mine. The stock value of the venture soared from $100,000 in 1870 to 
$159 million in 1874.

History

James Flood (1825-1889) was born on Staten Island, New York City, and arrived 
in San Francisco in 1849, where he opened the Auction Lunch Saloon on Washington 
Street. In 1868, he entered a syndicate with John W. MacKay, James G. Fair, 
and William S. O'Brien, to wrest control of the Hale and Norcross silver 
mine on the Comstock Lode from the hands of William Ralston, the California 
banker. They succeeded in the Spring of 1870, and moderate riches from the 
Hale and Norcross mine enabled the partners to pursue their efforts in the 
Comstock.

In 1873, Fair located a rich silver lode in the Consolidated Virginia Mine, 
and the partners were again able to obtain control of this mine from Ralston. 
The partners then brought in their big Bonanza of 1873, probably the richest 
body of gold and silver ore ever found on earth. Total stock exchange 
value of their mines jumped form $100,000 in 1870, to $159 million by 1874, 
and MacKay, Fair, Flood, and O'Brien succeeded Ralston as the Bonanza Kings of 
the Comstock.

In the 1880's, the millionaires of the West Coast, including Flood, built their 
great town houses on Nob Hill. These palaces were devastated by the earthquake 
of 1906, except for Flood's. The brownstone is now the home of the Pacific 
Union Club, and stands on the northwest corner of California and Mason Streets.
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The James C. Flood Mansion is located at 1000 California Street in San Francisco, 
and occupies approximately 1 1/3 acre. The whole of a small block, bounded 
by Sacramento, Mason, California, and Cushman Streets forms the property of the 
Pacific-Union Club, successor to the Flood family.

Frontage on Sacramento and California Streets is 212.5 feet. Frontage on Mason and
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Cushman Streets is 275 feet. This area is known as Lot number one Assessor's 
Block 245, and also as 1000 California Street. No structures other than the 
Flood Mansion occupy the site.


